

A scoping review on bovine tuberculosis highlights the need for novel data streams and analytical approaches to curb zoonotic diseases

Kimberly Conteddu, Holly M. English, Andrew W. Byrne, Bawan Amin, Laura L. Griffin, Prabhleen Kaur, Virginia Morera-Pujol, Kilian J. Murphy, Michael Salter-Townshend, Adam F. Smith, et al.

► To cite this version:

Kimberly Conteddu, Holly M. English, Andrew W. Byrne, Bawan Amin, Laura L. Griffin, et al.. A scoping review on bovine tuberculosis highlights the need for novel data streams and analytical approaches to curb zoonotic diseases. Veterinary Research, 2024, 55 (1), pp.64. 10.1186/s13567-024-01314-w. hal-04588372

HAL Id: hal-04588372 https://hal.science/hal-04588372v1

Submitted on 27 May 2024 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

REVIEW



A scoping review on bovine tuberculosis highlights the need for novel data streams and analytical approaches to curb zoonotic diseases

Kimberly Conteddu^{1*}, Holly M. English¹, Andrew W. Byrne², Bawan Amin¹, Laura L. Griffin¹, Prabhleen Kaur³, Virginia Morera-Pujol¹, Kilian J. Murphy¹, Michael Salter-Townshend³, Adam F. Smith^{4,5,6} and Simone Ciuti¹

Abstract

Zoonotic diseases represent a significant societal challenge in terms of their health and economic impacts. One Health approaches to managing zoonotic diseases are becoming more prevalent, but require novel thinking, tools and crossdisciplinary collaboration. Bovine tuberculosis (bTB) is one example of a costly One Health challenge with a complex epidemiology involving humans, domestic animals, wildlife and environmental factors, which require sophisticated collaborative approaches. We undertook a scoping review of multi-host bTB epidemiology to identify trends in species publication focus, methodologies, and One Health approaches. We aimed to identify knowledge gaps where novel research could provide insights to inform control policy, for bTB and other zoonoses. The review included 532 articles. We found different levels of research attention across episystems, with a significant proportion of the literature focusing on the badger-cattle-TB episystem, with far less attention given to tropical multi-host episystems. We found a limited number of studies focusing on management solutions and their efficacy, with very few studies looking at modelling exit strategies. Only a small number of studies looked at the effect of human disturbances on the spread of bTB involving wildlife hosts. Most of the studies we reviewed focused on the effect of badger vaccination and culling on bTB dynamics with few looking at how roads, human perturbations and habitat change may affect wildlife movement and disease spread. Finally, we observed a lack of studies considering the effect of weather variables on bTB spread, which is particularly relevant when studying zoonoses under climate change scenarios. Significant technological and methodological advances have been applied to bTB episystems, providing explicit insights into its spread and maintenance across populations. We identified a prominent bias towards certain species and locations. Generating more high-guality empirical data on wildlife host distribution and abundance, high-resolution individual behaviours and greater use of mathematical models and simulations are key areas for future research. Integrating data sources across disciplines, and a "virtuous cycle" of well-designed empirical data collection linked with mathematical and simulation modelling could provide additional gains for policy-makers and managers, enabling optimised bTB management with broader insights for other zoonoses.

Keywords zoonosis, bovine tuberculosis, *Mycobacterium bovis*, infectious disease management, mathematical modelling, simulation, multi-host disease, wildlife host

Handling editor: Pauline Ezanno.

*Correspondence: Kimberly Conteddu kimberly.conteddu@ucdconnect.ie Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s) 2024. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/A.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.



Table of Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Methods
- 3 Results
 - 3.1 General characteristics
 - 3.1.1 Study species and wildlife species
 - 3.1.2 Management and data type
 - 3.2 Data analysis
 - 3.2.1 Spatial analysis, spatial scale and temporal scale
 - 3.2.2 Farm environment and human perturbations
 - 3.3 Epidemiological analysis
 - 3.3.1 Intra- and interspecies interactions
 - 3.3.2 Direction of transmission and compartmental models
- 4 Discussion
 - 4.1 Empirical data and long-term monitoring programs: involving stakeholders and setting up fixed long-term monitoring stations across large spatial scales
 - 4.2 Recent advances with technology can help to gather data for mathematical simulations: interindividual variability within animal populations and human socio-economic factors matter and should be taken into account
 - 4.3 Modelling and mathematical simulations: social network analysis, Bayesian species distribution models, and agent based models
- 5 Conclusion

References

1 Introduction

Emerging infectious diseases represent a significant public health concern as they become more prevalent worldwide [1-3]. It is estimated that about 60% of emerging infectious diseases are zoonotic, 72% of which have been estimated to originate from wildlife [2, 3]. In 2019, thirteen different zoonoses had confirmed cases in humans within the European Union [4]. This has likely been accelerated by exponential growth in global population size and mobility with associated increases in urbanisation and concurrent loss of natural habitats. It has also led to increasing occurrences of human-wildlife interactions (e.g., improper waste disposal, intentional feeding of wildlife, movement of wildlife to human-dominated areas) and, therefore, exposure to zoonotic diseases [5-7]. Contact between humans, livestock and other captive animals, and wildlife species is only expected to keep increasing, leading to concerns about increased incidences of zoonotic disease transfer [6, 8, 9]. The question, however, remains of how to best track and manage emerging diseases.

A critical example is Zoonotic Tuberculosis (zoonotic TB), which was estimated in 2016 to be linked to 147 000 human cases and 12 500 deaths worldwide [10]. Zoonotic TB is driven mainly by Mycobacterium bovis (i.e., the causative agent of Bovine Tuberculosis-also as bovine TB or bTB), which is transmitted by several wildlife hosts and livestock. Britain and Ireland, as well as many other countries worldwide [10], have been increasingly impacted by bTB, resulting in significant economic loss. In Ireland, for instance, 4.89% of cattle herds tested positive for bTB in 2023, leading to the humane killing of 28 868 cattle [11]. This is in addition to the economic costs associated with the national bTB eradication program with €92 million spent in 2018 alone [12]. Similar trends can be observed in the UK, with £70 million spent annually for bTB prevention and control [13]. This disease also raises welfare concerns for wildlife hosts, especially considering its high prevalence in the wild. Badgers (Meles meles), for example, have been shown to have a bTB prevalence exceeding 40% in hotspot areas in Ireland [14], and red deer in Spain have been estimated to have a prevalence of up to 50% [15].

Bovine TB eradication is prioritised by governments and researchers due to the significant health concerns and economic (trade) impacts. Despite decades of control efforts in several countries, the pathogen has successfully avoided eradication. There are complex reasons as to why this is the case [16], but a primary factor relates to its complex dynamics of transmission and maintenance across differing hosts and the environment. Therefore, new thinking may be required to further investigate if disease control can be driven toward eradication. Detecting gaps in the current bTB literature is an essential step required to identify target areas for future research and to further hone government eradication strategies.

One way in which this may be addressed, and which requires assessment as to its prevalence in the literature, is through multidisciplinary, coordinated collaborations between the public health sector, veterinarians, ecologists and wildlife managers. The importance of interdisciplinary approaches is highlighted by the interlinked nature of human, animal and ecosystem health, which led to the concept of "One World One HealthTM" [17, 18]. Despite such multidisciplinary efforts, the effect of stressors (i.e., direct and/or indirect disturbances such as hunting, habitat loss, and more broadly

habitat and climate change) on animal ecology within human-dominated landscapes and the potential emergence of zoonotic disease is still understudied [1]. For example, we are aware that human-driven changes in the environment can modify interactions between hosts, change host and vector densities, and alter host longevity and movement [19, 20]. A study by Castillo-Neyra et al. showed that rabies transmission was spatially linked to water channels, which act as ecological corridors connecting multiple susceptible populations and facilitating pathogen spread and persistence [20]. However, with cities expanding and providing urban corridors to wildlife, pathogen persistence could become even more of an issue [20], confirming the importance of studying the effect of human perturbations on animal ecology and related implications in disease ecology.

Additionally, transmission of different zoonoses often involve multiple agents including humans and a diverse range of wild and domestic animals. In order to understand the processes behind their transmission, it is essential to clearly disentangle the role of each agent involved [19]. Due to the complexity of disease transmission and the maintenance of infection within multiple wildlife hosts, for example between bovine and badger populations in the case of bTB, the individual components of the transmission chain are often studied separately. This can limit our understanding of the subtle underlying effects explaining disease emergence and transmission. Therefore, a holistic approach is essential to develop a complete picture of the transmission dynamics of zoonotic diseases like bTB [19]; for example, recent research on rabies has shown how empirical data can be used to elucidate epidemiological dynamics [21].

However, even in cases where empirical data is used, there may be limited power, which can impact results and interpretation. In these cases, evidence from empirical data can now be boosted by mathematical simulations, which are powerful tools for predicting disease transmission trajectories [22]. Simulations of disease transmission through compartmental models (e.g., the Susceptible, Infectious, and/or Removed (SIR) model and its variations) have been used in a variety of disease systems, including the recent COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19, however, is exceptional in the level of global concern garnered and resultant significant investment in funding. This meant that large empirical datasets were also made readily accessible, which made direct complex modelling possible [23]. Other zoonoses are typically more difficult to model this way due to the lack of empirical data on disease transmission and associated hosts [24]. Mathematical simulations, using for example SIR models, therefore create opportunities to also model these zoonoses. In addition, such simulations allow us to undertake experiments that are currently logistically unfeasible, too costly, too complex or on "unobservable" phenomena [22, 25].

As mentioned, lack of information on associated hosts and transmission pathways is often a limiting factor in modelling zoonoses and may potentially also be an issue in bTB research. Studying interactions between and within host species, as well as the role played by each host in the transmission chain, can enable us to better understand zoonotic disease dynamics. While simulations can achieve much, it is important to note that interactions amongst wild animals are heterogeneous by nature and vary significantly between different populations as well as individuals. Therefore, it is important to account for this variability to understand the mechanisms behind transmission and subsequently be able to predict and control disease spread [8]. This can be achieved by using network modelling, where heterogeneous contacts between animals can be used to simulate disease transmission [8, 24], for example using social network analysis (SNA) [8]. SNA can be beneficial for disease management since it enables us to identify "super-spreaders" (i.e., highly connected individuals) which can then be targeted for vaccination, allowing for a dramatic reduction in transmission [1, 8]. In addition, new research is looking at integrating SNA with molecular epidemiology (phylodynamics) to better estimate transmission pathways and direction of transmission between individuals [26].

Finally, it is of key importance that models of disease risk and distribution consider variances across space and time [27, 28], which enables us to identify disease clusters [5] and model host abundance [29]. As ecological processes occur at different scales (from single study sites to macroecological scales), the spatial scale used for disease distribution modelling is crucial in understanding how these processes exacerbate the spread of zoonotic diseases, such as bTB [30, 31]. Large spatial scales (i.e., global, continental) can examine the broader picture and disentangle how host abundance and abiotic factors influence disease prevalence [19]. Smaller spatial scales (i.e., country, region) can be used to examine population dynamics and pathogen genetic diversity at the local level [19]. Temporal patterns are important to consider as many zoonotic diseases show seasonal variations (e.g., Zoonotic enteric diseases such as Salmonella spp, Escherichia coli, Giardia spp) as well as daily variations (i.e., due to the circadian rhythm of microbes and pathogens as well as chronobiology of wildlife hosts) in their infection patterns [32-34]. It is of key importance that any gaps in bTB research

pertaining to factors discussed above be identified, in order to inform future research direction.

Here, we aimed to uncover empirical and methodological gaps in the peer-reviewed literature on bTB. Our intention is to use bTB as an example of a complex multihost zoonotic disease for which recent developments with sampling design, animal monitoring tools and technology, and mathematical modelling has helped to fill the gaps in knowledge and improve our understanding and ability to combat zoonotic diseases more generally.

To achieve our goal, we developed a scoping review of bTB multihost epidemiology focusing on 18 research questions (reported in Table 1 and conceptually summarised in Figure 1) regarding the type of study, whether, which and how wildlife species have been monitored, what kind of sampling designs and methodological approaches have been used, and whether epidemiological empirical data have been collected. We then gathered data from the peer-reviewed literature on the mechanisms driving inter- and intraspecies bTB transmission, looking in particular at novel and multidisciplinary approaches. Our goal is that our work will spark renewed discussion on how to monitor and deal with zoonotic diseases, direct future research, and stimulate focused funding efforts (Figure 2).

2 Methods

We conducted a scoping review (as per PRISMA guidelines) [35] by sourcing peer-reviewed papers using Web of Science (Clarivate, 2021 Online Version) focusing on bovine tuberculosis, and more specifically its most common cause, Mycobacterium bovis, in cattle and several key wildlife hosts. The search terms and list of articles have been summarised in Additional file 1. We identified 3531 potentially relevant papers (i.e., the search included all years of publication) which were uploaded and screened for duplicates using EndNote (Clarivate, Version 20.1.0.15341)(Figure 2). Relevant articles were then selected using a PEO (Population, Exposure, Outcomes) eligibility criterium structure [36]. The aim of the PEO is to identify articles of interest by selecting the "Population" (i.e., the subject being affected by the disease/health condition) for a particular "Exposure" (i.e., a disease/ health condition) and either a particular "Outcome" or "Themes" to examine [36, 37]. The PEO eligibility criterium was chosen since it was in line with the recommendations given for scoping reviews that target literature on etiology and risk factors, such as a particular disease. We decided to use a modified version of the PEO framework structure which also includes themes of interest as potential "Outcomes" [37], as summarised in Table 2 to aid reproducibility. All papers that did not meet the eligibility criteria listed in Table 2 were removed (Figure 2). The papers were screened by one researcher who coded 18 variables (stored in an excel spreadsheet) to answer the questions of interest summarised in Table 1. The results were then imported and plotted using *ggplot2* in R version 4.1.1 [38].

3 Results

Our results are based on 532 peer-reviewed papers published between 1981 and 2022. The study location of the papers was representative of 6 continents and 52 different countries (Figure 3). The continent with the highest number of studies on bTB is Europe (n=303, 169 of which)were from the UK), significantly higher than those carried out in much larger continents such as Africa, Asia, and both Americas (Figure 3). We screened all papers for 18 different variables (addressing our 18 questions, see Table 1) which we summarised in the following section under the heading: 3.1 general characteristics (Sub-headings: "Study species and wildlife species"; "Management and data type"), 3.2 data analysis (Sub-headings: "Spatial analysis, spatial scale and temporal scale"; "Farm environment and human perturbations"), and 3.3 epidemiological analysis (Sub-headings: "Intra- and interspecies interactions", "Direction of transmission and compartmental models"). Note that most plots presented below have a sample size of n = 532, corresponding to the number of papers screened, with a few exceptions where this sample size is higher (for example, in relation to temporal scale included in the study, if a paper reported multiple temporal scales, therefore contributing to multiple levels of a category) or lower (for example, in relation to epidemiology, where variables of interest were analysed only in the subset of papers describing studies that included epidemiological interactions).

3.1 General characteristics

3.1.1 Study species and wildlife species

We found that 41% of bTB papers focused on cattle only, whereas 30% of them included both cattle and wildlife species and 29% targeted only wildlife species (Figure 4A). Among those papers reporting wildlife data, we found that the European badger attracted most research effort (50% of wildlife studies), followed by cervid species (28%: 13% red deer, 11% white-tailed deer, 5% fallow deer, 3% roe deer, 2% wapiti elk, from hereinafter referred to as simply elk, and < 1% of studies including sika and muntjac deer), wild boar (18%), brushed tailed possum (17%) and buffalo (4%) (Figure 4B).

Table 1 Description of the 18 questions (and related variables) used to screen bTB papers published before July 2022

Variables							
Variable types	Variable names	18 questions					
General characteristics	Study type	Is the study on cattle and/or wildlife?					
	Wildlife species	Which wildlife species are included in the study: i.e., cervid, badger, wild boar, brush-tailed possum, wild buffalo?					
	Management	Does the study look at possible management solutions for controlling the spread of bTB from wildlife to livestock and their efficacy?					
	Data type	Is the study based on empirical data and/or simulations?					
Data analysis	Spatial analysis—cattle	Does the study conduct spatial analysis in cattle (e.g., looking at risk and probability of infection)?					
	Spatial analysis—wildlife	Does the study conduct spatial analysis in wildlife (e.g., using GPS collars)? (Which does not imply testing for disease but rather whether the spatial behaviour of the potential wildlife host has been studied)					
	Spatial scale	Does the study include a spatial scale and if so which type: local, regional, national and international?					
	Temporal scale	What type of temporal scale does the study include, if any? Temporal scale type: daily variability, snapshot (1 point in time), intra-annual variability, interannual variability, future scenario predictions					
	Farm environment	Does the data analysis include variables that explain the environment characteristics inside the farm (e.g., herd data, habitat within the farm)?					
	Outside farm environment	Does the data analysis include variables that explain the environmental characteristics around the farm (e.g., habitat characteristics)?					
	Weather	Does the data analysis include climate variables (e.g., rainfall, soil humidity)?					
	Human perturbation	Does the data analysis include human perturbation variables (e.g., culling, road construction, forest clearfell)?					
Epidemiology	Intra and interspecies interactions	Does the study look at interactions between animals and, if so, does it look at intraspecies or interspecies interactions?					
	Interaction type	If the study looks at interactions, what type of interactions does it look at? Type of interac- tions: indirect or direct					
	Interaction equipment	If the study looks at interactions, how was the data collected? Collection type: direct observations, technological tools (GPS, proximity loggers, camera traps), simulation					
	Interaction methodology	If the study looks at interactions, what methodology was used for the data analysis? Meth- odology type: differential equations, social network analysis, linear models or other (e.g., t-test/ANOVA, stochastic models)					
	Direction	Does the study include a direction of transmission (e.g., using whole genome sequencing of genetic samples) and/or a clear and direct path of contacts between animals (e.g., using a social network)?					
	Epidemiological modelling	Does the study look at compartmental models (i.e., SIR) and/or transmission rates?					

The variables have been divided into three groups depending on the question type. Variables looking at general aspects of the paper (e.g., type of host species included in the study) were grouped as *general characteristics*. Variables concerning the type of data analysis conducted in the studies were grouped as *data analysis*. Finally, variables focused on the type of epidemiological analysis conducted in the papers of interest were grouped as *epidemiology*.

3.1.2 Management and data type

Our results highlighted that only 25% of the studies dealt with management solutions (Figure 4C). Management strategies mainly included culling (18%) or vaccination (6%), with 5% looking at other strategies (e.g., fencing, sterilisation). We also found that most papers gathered original empirical data (79%), and papers only using simulations were limited (4%), with a remaining 17% of papers combining empirical data and simulations (Figure 4D).

3.2 Data analysis

3.2.1 Spatial analysis, spatial scale and temporal scale

We found that the majority of papers did not include any spatial analysis. Those that did focused on spatial patterns in wildlife (30%, Figure 5B) slightly more than cattle (28%, Figure 5A). Among the 149 papers that investigated spatial analysis in cattle, 58% looked at bTB risk and probability of infection; 16% looked at cattle interactions with wildlife, 13% analysed the spatial distribution of bTB positive biological samples, 11% investigated



Page 6 of 21



Figure 1 Key host species and topics of interest we screened for in the bovine tuberculosis scientific literature published between 1981 and 2022. bTB host species include cattle as well as a range of wild species: badger, wild boar, cervid species (with the following species identified in the literature screened: white-tailed deer, red deer, fallow deer, roe deer, wapiti elk, sika deer and muntjac deer), brush-tailed possum and wild buffalo. The circles on the outside illustrate the key information sought in peer-reviewed papers dealing with bTB, which has been expanded and clarified in Table 1: type of data collected by researchers; whether spatial analyses were carried out (i.e., in cattle and or wildlife); what type of spatial and temporal scales were considered; whether environmental variables were taken into account (i.e., environment in the farm, environment around the farm and/or weather variables); whether the methodological approach captured the direction of disease transmission; whether the study used common epidemiological modelling techniques (i.e., compartmental models, transmission rates), or whether the study included intra/interspecies interactions in their methodology (i.e., what type of interactions did they look at - e.g., direct and/or indirect, what type of equipment was used to get interactions data and what methodology was used to analyse the data); finally, if human perturbations (i.e., forest felling, culling, vaccination) were taken into account when looking at variables affecting bTB spread, and management solutions to offset the spread of bTB, if any. Animal silhouettes were downloaded from PhyloPic [134]. Cattle, cervid, brushed-tailed possum and wild boar silhouettes are under: CC0 1.0 Universal (CC0 1.0) Public Domain Dedication. Buffalo silhouette is by Jan A. Venter, Herbert H. T. Prins, David A. Balfour & Rob Slotow (vectorized by T. Michael Keesey) under: Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) [135]. Badger silhouette is by Anthony Caravaggi under: Attribu tion-NonCommercial-



Figure 2 Cascade diagram of the process used in the selection of relevant papers.

cattle movement outside the farm. Interactions between farm animals and cattle movement inside the farm were included in 5% and 1% of papers, respectively. Among the 161 studies which investigated spatial behaviour in wildlife (Figure 5B), analysis was undertaken using a variety of methodologies; direct observations (36%), satellite GPS telemetry (19%), spatial patterns predicted by future scenarios modelling or mathematical simulations (19%), genetic samples (11%), camera traps (7%), proximity loggers (4%) and indirect observations (e.g., faecal samples for population density estimations; 1%).

We also found that most papers included spatial scales at the regional level or smaller (72%), with less than 4% papers looking at national and/or international spatial

Eligibility criteria							
PEO criteria	Explanation	Scoping review criteria	Eligible paper				
Population	Who is the focus of the scoping review?	Cattle, badger, deer, elk, wild boar, wild buffalo, brushed-tailed possum (i.e., known bTB hosts)	Contains at least one of the species of interest as a study species				
Exposure	What issue is the focal point of the scop- ing review?	Bovine tuberculosis (i.e., <i>Mycobacterium bovis</i>)	Focal point of the paper must be bovine tuberculosis, more specifically the most common cause: <i>Mycobacterium bovis</i>				
Outcomes/Themes	What themes, in relation to the issue, will the scoping review focus on?	 <i>Risk</i>: Does the study assess or evaluate potential risks of spreading bTB and its drivers (biotic and/or abiotic factors)? <i>Management</i>: Does the study look at potential management solutions for controlling the spread of bTB from wildlife to livestock and their efficacy? <i>bTB occurrence</i>: Does the study look at the presence of bTB in cattle and/or reservoir hosts at a spatial and/or temporal level? <i>bTB spread</i>: Does the study look at the mechanisms behind the active spread of bTB between individuals of the same species and/or interspecies transmission? 	Focuses on at least one of the themes of interest				

Table 2	Eligibility	<pre>/ criteria used</pre>	in the se	lection of	^r papers fo	or the	systemat	ic scoping	review
---------	-------------	----------------------------	-----------	------------	------------------------	--------	----------	------------	--------

The criteria follow a PEO (Population, Exposure, Outcomes/Themes) structure.



Figure 3 World map showing number of papers screened per country. Number of papers per continent: Europe (303), Africa (68), Oceania (60), North America (53), South America (29), Asia (26).

scales (Figure 5C). In regard to temporal scales, 36% of the studies considered interannual variability, whereas 17% tackled intra-annual variability. Thirty-six percent of the studies did not analyse any intra- or interannual temporal variability (Figure 5D). Only 4% of the studies looked at fine-scale variability (e.g., days), whereas in a few instances the year of study was not reported at all (4%). Finally, 12% of papers included predictions for temporal patterns into future scenarios.

3.2.2 Farm environment and human perturbations

When looking at farm characteristics, 50% of the studies included some type of herd data (e.g., herd size, bTB history), with 44% not including any type of in-farm environmental variables (Figure 6A) and 24% of papers incorporating other types of farm characteristics. These included environmental conditions on the farm (e.g., natural habitats, land-fragmentation; 13%), farm location in respect to other farms (11%) and farm location in respect to wildlife (6%).

Environmental conditions outside the farm were included in 33% of the papers' data analysis (Figure 6B). These studies mainly looked at habitat characteristics around the farm (e.g., wildlife presence, natural habitats), with two papers also including variables focusing on habitat variation (e.g., forest clearfell, new artificial plantations). We also looked at weather variables (e.g., temperature, rainfall) and observed that 4% of papers included these as part of their analysis (Figure 6D). Finally, 25% of the papers screened included human perturbation variables with the vast majority looking at the effect of vaccination and culling on transmission dynamics (Figure 6C).

3.3 Epidemiological analysis

3.3.1 Intra- and interspecies interactions

We found that most papers (69%) did not include an analysis on interactions, with 25% of papers looking at intraspecies transmission and 14% at interspecies transmission (Figure 7A). Among the interaction studies, 33%



Figure 4 Species, data and study type. Number of papers screened and reporting data on **A** study species type (whether the study was on cattle and/or wildlife), **B** wildlife species, **C** management (whether a paper investigated potential management solutions and their efficacy), **D** and data type. Animal silhouettes were downloaded from PhyloPic [134]. Cattle, cervid, brushed-tailed possum and wild boar silhouettes are under: CC0 1.0 Universal (CC0 1.0) Public Domain Dedication. Buffalo silhouette is by Jan A. Venter, Herbert H. T. Prins, David A. Balfour & Rob Slotow (vectorized by T. Michael Keesey) under: Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) [135]. Badger silhouette is by Anthony Caravaggi under: Attribution-NonCommerc ial-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0) [135].

included direct interactions, 17% included indirect interactions and 51% included both (Figure 7B). In addition, interaction data were mostly collected using simulations (39%), followed by technological tools (29%; e.g., GPS, proximity loggers, camera traps), and direct observations (23%), with genetic sampling used in 7% of papers (Figure 7C). The methodology used to analyse interaction data also varied between papers with 28% of papers using differential equations (e.g., SIR models, discreate models), 19% social network analysis, 18% linear models (i.e., including generalized mixed models as well as simple linear regressions) and 38% using a variety of statistical techniques (e.g., t-test/ANOVA, stochastic models) (Figure 7D).

3.3.2 Direction of transmission and compartmental models

We found that a limited proportion of the papers (8%) included direction of transmission in their analysis (Figure 8A). We also found that epidemiological modelling techniques (e.g., compartmental models and transmission rates) were adopted in 15% of the studies (Figure 8B).



Figure 5 Spatial and temporal analysis. Number of papers screened and reporting data on A spatial analysis of cattle (whether the study included any type of spatial analysis), B spatial analysis of wildlife, C spatial scale, and D temporal scale.

4 Discussion

In this review we found that there has been significant research focusing on the badger-cattle bTB episystem. We acknowledge, however, that we also found a very limited number of studies on other episystems [39–41]. Our spatially-explicit overview of bTB research efforts (Figure 3) highlights how the badger-cattle episystem has been the focus of most research done to date, highlighting a huge amount of money and research effort on bTB transmission dynamics across Europe and particularly in Britain and Ireland. However, there has been far less attention given on other multi-host episystems of countries in southern Africa, Asia and both South and North America. We believe we have more to learn from these chronically understudied systems.

Our scoping review found a limited number of studies focusing on management solutions and their efficacy, with very few looking at modelling exit strategies [42, 43]. This is due to the paucity of studies using mathematical simulations, not only to better understand and predict possible outputs of management solutions, but also to explore long-term bTB dynamics under different



Figure 6 Environmental variables. Number of papers screened and reporting data on A in-farm environment (whether the paper analysis included variables explaining environmental characteristics inside the farm), B outside farm environment, C human perturbations (whether the paper analysed the effect of human disturbances on bTB transmission dynamics), and D weather variables.

scenarios (e.g. [44, 45]). Only a small number of studies have looked at the effect of human disturbances on the spread of bTB in wildlife host species, and this knowledge gap needs to be tackled as we are aware that human perturbations may exacerbate zoonotic outbreaks and spread [46–48]. Most of the studies we reviewed have focused on the effect of badger vaccination and culling on bTB dynamics with only three studies looking at how other human perturbations may affect these dynamics [49–51]. Additionally, only two focused on the effect of habitat change (e.g., clearfell forest operations) on bTB breakdowns [52, 53]. Finally, we observed that there is only a few studies looking at the effect of weather variables (i.e., rainfall, soil humidity, temperature etc.) on bTB spread or risk [54]. This is especially important when considering wildlife-cattle transmission since it is now thought to occur also through environmental sources [55].

We have carefully evaluated the outcome of our scoping review, and in the following sections we have summarised data types and methodological approaches which, we believe, could contribute to gaining further insights



Figure 7 Interaction analysis. Number of papers screened and reporting data on A interactions (inclusion of interaction analysis i.e., intra- and/ or interspecies interactions), B interaction type, C the way interactions were monitored, and D interaction data analysis statistical approach.

into bTB epidemiology. Based on our review, we have identified a significant gap when it comes to prediction and simulation models, which would be a useful tool for managers to assess disease risk under different land use and climate change scenarios. Another major gap is the lack of integration between empirically-informed tactical (short-term decision support) and strategic (larger spatial scales and longer term) models being used concurrently in single studies (though we do note that there are exceptions, for instance Brooks-Pollock et al. [56]). Future research should include compartmental models fitted across space, linked via meta-populations and/or reallandscape multi-host episystems; or agent-based models (ABMs) with empirical data feedback loops. We describe such modelling approaches and their prerequisites in the following sections, beginning with data and monitoring programs, and we continue with recent advances in technology, mathematical tools and analytical solutions.

4.1 Empirical data and long-term monitoring programs: involving stakeholders and setting up fixed long-term monitoring stations across large spatial scales

As good quality data is required to generate informed strategies on wildlife interventions, we need reliable data sources to model spatial distribution and abundance of the host species involved in transmission. In reference to the badger-cattle bTB episystem in western Europe, both badgers (with several examples among the literature: [57, 58]), and cattle [59] have been extensively monitored. However, in some populations, it is possible that deer and wild boar may also play a role in the local spread and maintenance of infection [60]. In Britain and Ireland, the significance of deer as a wildlife host impacting bTB epidemiology has been uncertain [61]. However, recent research is starting to uncover the role deer may play at local scales where conditions favour the transmission between badgers-deer-cattle [62]. There could be opportunities to gather data in collaboration with hunters (as has occurred in France [63] and Spain [64], for example) to have access to a high number of deer samples, within and across countries (large spatial scales) and across years (long-term temporal scales). Involving stakeholders like hunters may provide the unique opportunity to collect pictures of clearly infected animals (e.g., small to large white, tan, or yellow lesions on the lungs, rib cage, or in the chest cavity) - to be submitted via smartphone applications (see [65]). These stakeholders may also gather biological samples to be collected by government officials at ad hoc collecting centres. This type of information would boost opportunities for monitoring the dynamics of the disease across multiple spatio-temporal scales and in relation to bTB occurrence in the two other hosts in the system (badgers and cattle). The ability to involve stakeholders across large spatial scales (e.g., hunters, farmers, foresters) may help to establish systematic, relatively inexpensive, and long-term monitoring



Figure 8 Epidemiological analysis. Number of papers screened and reporting data on **A** direction of transmission (whether this was analysed in the paper, e.g., transmission across species), **B** epidemiological modelling (i.e., papers included compartmental models and/or transmission rates in the analysis).

programmes. These can provide species presence-only and presence-absence data for Bayesian species and disease distribution models (described in Sect. "Modelling and mathematical simulations: social network analysis Bayesian species distribution models, and agent based models"), allowing managers to access up to date risk scenarios. This approach can also highlight hotspots of disease outbreak that could drive focused longitudinal studies using satellite telemetry on multiple species simultaneously. This would enable us to better disentangle species overlaps and contact rates [66, 67]. The role of stakeholders/citizen scientists in this bTB example could be confirming infection, which is almost never inexpensive, although there is the hope that cheaper field tests will be released in the next decade. The veracity of the data collected and level of engagement from stakeholders/citizen could also be a problem which needs to be taken into consideration. For the time being, a well distributed number of samples could be collected from hunters to cover large areas systematically and limit the costs required for testing.

When it comes to establishing long-term monitoring programs, fixed long-term sampling stations across largespatial scales can capture wildlife population spatio-temporal dynamics. This can, on one hand, provide data on occurrence, relative density, and spatio-temporal overlaps of the host species and, on the other hand, gather key empirical data required to parameterise mathematical simulations. Camera traps are a popular and effective tool for estimating state variables of wildlife populations [68]. For ungulates, they have successfully been used to understand temporal behaviour (e.g., diel activity patterns, [69]), spatial behaviour (e.g., occupancy, [70]), and abundance (e.g., density, [71]). Camera traps have been used for quantifying temporal and spatial overlap of wild ungulates with domestic animals in open systems [72, 73] with varying results [74]. Kukielka et al. demonstrated their use in identifying hotspots of indirect wildlife-livestock overlap for the prevention of bTB crossover [72]. For wildlife, especially ungulates, camera traps offer powerful monitoring solutions not only to measure abundance and spatial overlap, but also to understand behavioural dynamics that may align closely with disease risk. An example is the use of camera traps to individually recognise animals, which has been shown to be possible in a recent study by Hinojo et al. [75]. They demonstrated how roe deer (Capreolus capreolus) antler shapes could be used to identify distinct individuals. This data could be used to obtain better estimates of abundance as well as to build wildlife social networks (which will be discussed in more detail in Sect. "Modelling and mathematical simulations: social network analysis, Bayesian species distribution models, and agent based models") and therefore provide information on contact rates between and within species. The parameters from these analyses would be useful as an input for mathematical simulations to help better understand disease transmission dynamics in wildlife populations.

The use of camera traps as well as satellite telemetry can be quite challenging to use in developing countries since they can be extremely expensive (satellite telemetry, in particular) as well as difficult to use when collecting data in remote locations (camera traps, in particular). In addition, the invasive nature of satellite telemetry - which requires trapping animals - often makes it hard to collect data from enough individuals from an ethical, logistical and administrative points of view. Therefore, to improve our understanding of episystems in developing nations, advances in non-invasive diagnostic techniques and eDNA (i.e., a genetic sampling technique that uses environmental sources - such as water and soil - to extract genetic information used for biosecurity and biomonitoring purposes) are essential [76-79]. An example of a widely used non-invasive sampling technique is faecal sampling [76-81]. Faecal samples are a relatively inexpensive way of monitoring diseases and health status in wildlife species. It is also possible to collect a high number of samples in a short period of time, which is especially important for long-term monitoring programs of wildlife hosts. Collecting eDNA can be even faster and is especially useful for long term spatio-temporal dynamics of infectious pathogens at the wider scale, which can improve the monitoring of zoonoses at the country and continental level [77].

However, timing is key when monitoring diseases as infectious pathogens can mutate and be rapidly transmitted between wildlife, humans, and domestic animals, with potentially devastating impacts on human health and animal welfare. Therefore, novel and rapid genetic techniques, such as culture-free pathogen genetic sequencing [82], can greatly benefit disease surveillance by decreasing the time needed to sequence pathogens and, consequently, the time needed to make essential ecological management decisions and activate public health responses. In addition, these new sequencing technologies can be very useful during wildlife field studies in isolated areas since they can be rapidly deployed and need limited laboratory equipment for processing [82]. In addition, when monitoring zoonosis such as bTB and collecting related data (invasively or not) it is important to recall the characteristics of the bacterium itself, Mycobacterium bovis. For example, different lineages exist across the globe [83] with different strains potentially showing different evolutionary [clock] rates. This greatly affects the rate at which the bacterium needs to be monitored among countries, and we believe that faster

sequencing technologies will be of great help in tracking the evolution and spread of different lineages, informing adaptive management of bTB (and zoonosis in general) at the local level.

4.2 Recent advances with technology can help to gather data for mathematical simulations: interindividual variability within animal populations and human socio-economic factors matter and should be taken into account

Animal-attached sensors, i.e., biologging [84, 85], can allow us to disentangle animal behaviour and the movement patterns that promote disease transmission. GPS units are the most widely used of these sensors, providing data on animal space use. Proximity sensors can detect when two or more sensor-equipped animals interact and can be used to detect direct encounters which may result in disease transmission. Collars with both GPS units and proximity sensors have been used concurrently on badgers and cattle uncovering that, while badgers show a habitat preference for cattle pastures, there were rare to no direct contacts between the two species [86, 87]. This indicates that environmental transmission may play an important role in the case of bTB [87]. As such, proximity sensors allow insights which are not obtainable through investigating shared space use alone. When the disease state of an individual is known, proximity sensors can also provide information on if and how the duration of exposure to said individual affects transmission rate to other members of the population [88]. Other biologging sensors, including accelerometers, magnetometers, and gyroscopes, are used to classify distinct behaviours from logged datasets [85]. Behaviour classification allows activity budgets to be built so that behaviours which increase the likelihood of acquiring or transmitting pathogens can be detected and mapped in the landscape. Accelerometers have also been used to compare micro-movements in diseased and healthy animals, with diseased animals exhibiting differences in posture, gait dynamism (e.g., the "bounce" in subsequent walking steps) and energy levels [89]. Monitoring such micro-movements in cattle could act as a warning sign to test herds for bTB when signs of illness are detected, e.g. by adapting existing systems in place to monitor lameness through accelerometry [90]. These effects of disease on the internal state of animals yield important insights into how disease status impacts animal movement patterns and therefore disease spread.

Biologging and satellite telemetry monitoring can, on one hand, provide answers aimed at understanding the transmission dynamics within multi-host disease systems [87, 91, 92] and, on the other hand, provide highly valuable empirical data that are strongly needed by parameter hungry mathematical simulations [88]. However, when tracking animals, special care should be taken to understand the behaviour of those animals that we are monitoring, and specifically whether we are following a bolder subset of the overall population that are easier to trap. This applies also to where we study animals which will provide empirical data for mathematical simulations, because behaviour and movement ecology may vary significantly depending on the level of human disturbance. We are aware that tracking multiple individuals of multiple species can be expensive and not accessible unless large amounts of funding is available. However, recent technological advances with satellite telemetry using LoRaWAN transmission technology [93, 94] have been developed to monitor livestock at affordable prices (e.g. less than 100 euros for 1 GPS unit), opening up new opportunities for extensive monitoring programmes in wildlife, within and across species.

The concept of One Health has highlighted the role that human activities play in the spread of zoonotic diseases [95]. For example, urbanisation, improper waste disposal, and the intentional feeding of wildlife have been shown to result in wildlife movement into human-dominated areas [7], which may facilitate disease transfer to humans and other animal communities [96]. However, evidence has shown that only a select proportion of individuals within wildlife populations will engage in interactions with humans [97] or utilise these human-dominated areas [7, 98]. Individual variation in movement patterns [99], sociability [100], and immunological defence [101], among others, impacts disease transmission and spread [102]. There is also evidence that certain behavioural types have higher infection rates than others (e.g. [103, 104]), although the causal direction may be difficult to determine since infections also alter host behaviour [103, 105]. Regardless, to gain a more complete understanding of disease spread, future studies should incorporate this individual variation. These studies often utilise direct behavioural observations, since these are an invaluable data source that can be used to determine which individuals in a known population are more likely to engage in close-contact interactions with humans [97] or access human areas (e.g., farmland) [106]. This can provide us with information on which individuals in a population may be at "higher risk" of transferring disease to humans or to other animal populations.

Nevertheless, considering human behaviour is also fundamental in infectious disease transmission. The One Health definition has changed in 2022 accordingly and now it includes the importance of society and its diversity in values and beliefs in effectively fighting zoonoses [107, 108]. Collaboration between scientific disciplines is not enough to improve current and emerging infectious disease transmission. It is fundamental that community members and expertise at every level, from village to continent, be included if we wish to equitably improve human health and animal welfare [107]. In this way we may also improve the effectiveness of disease management solutions by tailoring them to communities instead of trying to use the same solutions in different areas without taking into account socio-economical differences.

4.3 Modelling and mathematical simulations: social network analysis, Bayesian species distribution models, and agent based models

Social network analysis (SNA) is a powerful tool in uncovering the causes and consequences of disease transmission within animal communities [109, 110]. In the past decade SNA has mainly focused on understanding contact and transport networks of cattle and livestock movements, as well as wildlife movements [111-113]. Nonetheless, it could be expanded to better unravel the dynamics of disease transmission between wildlife populations and livestock [110]. Unlike in domestic cattle, the movements and interactions of wildlife can be challenging to track. As a result, a small proportion of individuals are typically monitored using biologging and satellite telemetry, as discussed earlier. Recent advances in statistical analysis of social networks have paved the way to obtain better inferences from limited data [114–116]. The first step is to identify the network metrics affecting disease transmission dynamics that best suits the disease system under study (e.g., transitivity, betweenness centrality) [114, 115]. Using global metrics of a social network, for example, can help estimate potential changes in the overall structure of the wildlife population. A commonly used global metric when studying disease transmission dynamics is transitivity, which represents the tendency of a population to cluster together and is considered to be negatively correlated with disease transmission rates [113]. Local network metrics, on the other hand, can help in understanding social characteristics at the individual level. A type of local metric is betweenness centrality, which represents the tendency of an individual to serve as a bridge between one part of the community and another (i.e., a community in SNA is a group of nodes, for example individual animals, with denser connections between each other compared to other nodes in the network), helping the selection of individuals to be vaccinated/removed from the population.

Once we have selected the metrics to use, they can be tested via pre-network permutations of available observations to ensure that the available data sufficiently captures non-random interactions among the animals. However, when using small samples for SNA we also must be careful on what we infer from it. Recent research [115] has shown that estimates may be inaccurate, or "noisy", at low sample sizes. Therefore, stable metrics with respect to low sample sizes should be identified before making inferences. Research on data collected for wild ungulates [115], for example, shows that the betweenness centrality values of smaller samples remain well correlated with those in larger samples, indicating that this metric can be used even when the social network is built using a small sample of the population. Similar correlation analysis can be done for other network metrics, mainly in cases of limited data availability for disease transmission. Whenever limited animals from a population are monitored, confidence intervals around the network metrics should also be obtained to make informed decisions using statistical evidence.

Using the methodologies discussed above (see Silk et al. and Kaur et al. for more details, [113, 115]) we now have the possibility of analysing all telemetry data collected thus far on species involved in bTB transmission (e.g., badgers, wild boar; but also applicable to species from other disease systems) to test hypotheses on disease transmission dynamics. For example, we can now use these statistical techniques to better understand behavioural patterns of wildlife species, as well as comparing networks overtime and how wildlife behaviour can be affected by perturbations in the environment (e.g., climate change, land-use change or other type of anthropogenic factors) even when only limited data is available [115]. In addition, it will help in collecting future data since these methodologies can be used to estimate the minimum number of individuals needed in order to reliably build a social network, which can vary enormously depending on the scope of the project as well as the wildlife species of interest. This will, for example, help in answering specific questions regarding the role of deer species in bTB transmission by simultaneously collecting telemetry data on badgers and deer species in Ireland.

Knowing the distribution and abundance of wildlife vectors (i.e., a living agent that carries and transmits pathogens - e.g. HIV, Covid-19, bTB - to other living beings) is also essential when aiming to reduce zoonotic risk [117, 118]. To that aim, Species Distribution Models (SDMs) can be used to produce models of the distribution and abundance of species based on occurrence data [119]. In recent years spatial modelling has undergone a conceptual and technical revolution. New modelling techniques within Bayesian [120] and Machine Learning frameworks [121] allow us to develop spatially explicit models of animal abundance and distributions with unprecedented accuracy, and the improvement of computational power allows computers to rise to the challenge and cope with the high computational demands of these models. The flexibility of the new techniques allows

us to use different types of data (e.g., individual tracking data, survey data, and even citizen science data) and combine them in what are called Integrated Species Distribution Models (ISDMs), while still taking into account the different observational processes of each type of data, to produce accurate models even in data scarce systems [122]. In addition, these new techniques also allow for the calculation of uncertainty in a spatially explicit manner, which will help us evaluate the quality of the models and better interpret the results. Bayesian ISDMs using INLA (i.e., Integrated Nested Laplace Approximation) [123] were used to model the distribution of red, sika and fallow deer in Ireland, which are vectors of bTB [65]. The models produced, for the first time, relative abundance and distribution maps for each species, which will be an essential tool for deer population management and thus towards bTB eradication. They are already being used to determine high sika-density areas for a pilot study on the effect of deer on biodiversity, which will provide further management tools for the overabundant deer populations in Ireland. In addition, hierarchical Bayesian models are also the basis of a new project aimed at modelling European badger sett distribution, badger density, and their body condition. These three models will be linked to bTB infection in badgers and outbreaks in cattle, in an attempt for the first time to link badger spatial ecology to bTB management and eradication in Ireland (V. Morera-Pujol 2023, personal communication).

Agent-based simulations are another useful modelling approach, or complementary tool to traditional methods, when data is limited/not available; helping elucidate transient effects of wildlife disease transmission in human-dominated landscapes [25]. These models serve as a computational laboratory that allow researchers to plug-in available real-world data and parameterise both agents (for instance, a badger) and the environment (for instance, a mosaic of natural habitats and farms). This enables researchers to empirically test if animal behaviour in response to landscape change or management interventions modulates disease risk dynamics over time and space [124]. Recent technological advancements have bolstered agent-based simulations allowing for highresolution spatio-temporal models that incorporate geographic information systems (GIS) data to create hyper realistic environments, and machine learning algorithms to introduce cognition and applied decision making for agents. Furthermore, process-driven agent-based models (e.g., disease transmission) can be integrated into larger mechanistic agent-based models (e.g., ecosystem scale epi-dynamics) for increasingly higher-resolution models that reduce uncertainty and overly-theoretical parameterisation of model entities [25]. The development of highly-realistic agent-based simulations, parameterised with high-resolution data, for the management of bovine tuberculosis in multi-host systems can contribute to answering important policy questions and how best to select management directions. In practice, this allows for the totality of data collected in complex multi-host systems to be incorporated into a single environment where they may be measured against one another in the simulation to deduce the possible effects of each predictor. Take for example the European badger as the primary wildlife host in Ireland as a case study. Badgers are prevalent in the agroecological mosaic of natural habitats and farms in Ireland. Agent-based simulations can utilise data from badger tracking studies [51, 125, 126], habitat suitability [127], culling and vaccination programmes [128] and disturbance regimes [52, 129] to simulate badger movement and behaviour realistically. GIS data for farm location and characteristics [130], as well as ecological and environmental data streams, can then place the badger agent into a highly realistic environment to examine how these factors affect badger movement, behaviour, and other parameters, for instance, contact rates with domestic animals. Interactions between agents and the environment can be modulated by sub-models to further increase the strength of the model. For instance, weather sub-models (e.g., rainfall) may influence agricultural practice and thus contact rates, as well as the length of time Mycobacterium bovis persists in the environment. Alternatively, disease transmission could also be sub-modelled so that contact rates may/may not result in infection [25]. Finally, management decisions can be trialled within the simulation to see how likely decisions change the status of disease within the study system, allowing for "What if?" scenarios to play out without risk to animal or human welfare or livelihoods.

5 Conclusion

Our exploration of the recent literature on multi-host bTB episystems, as an example of zoonotic One Health challenges, has revealed a significant body of work utilising a diversity of methodologies at different spatiotemporal scales and subjects (individual vs. group) levels. There was a significant bias in the literature towards one particular episystem, the badger-cattle system that predominates in north-western Europe, reflecting large financial burdens (for both governments as well as the agricultural sector) and research funding investments. Alternatively, there were comparatively less publications from the global south, especially in complex muti-host episystems in southern Africa and India. In such episystems, the cost-effective and efficient collection, collation, and use of data are essential to drive greatest added value to inform on policy options.

Given the results from our scoping review, we reflect on several areas where progress could be made. This includes the need for high-quality data on wildlife hosts, even in episystems where significant research investments have already been made. Such careful collection and utilisation of empirical data could then help feed the development of social network analyses, Bayesian distribution models and eventually mathematical and simulation-based models. Mathematical simulations, such as ABMs trained on synthetic data and parameterised by real empirical data, can answer questions that would otherwise be too costly, unethical, or both. Such models can also be used to explore different scenarios in an increasingly human-dominated world, under different levels of land-use and climate change, or with the appearance of invasive species in already complex multi-host epidemiological systems. In addition, it can help build crossdisciplinary bridges with other areas, deriving significant insights into interspecific transmission like phylodynamic modelling.

We have used our Irish experience to inspire researchers from across the globe; Ireland invests considerably in surveying, culling, and vaccinating badgers [131, 132]. However, the question remains - which applies to other countries and zoonotic episystems - should we be doing more or can we be smarter with the data we already have? We suggest the latter. Yes, there is a need to be smarter, arranging ad hoc data collections using the latest technological tools to estimate unknown or uncertain parameters. But we also have to focus our efforts on mathematical modelling (ABMs, INLA-Bayesian) to optimise our information gain from the large, high-quality datasets collected over the last few decades (and for sparser datasets, taking advantage of recently developed statistical tools for enhanced inferences, see [54, 68]). We have (almost) all the data required to parameterise simulations with significant utility: this should be one main focus in future research. We believe that, ideally, the feedback of simulation and mathematical tools to inform data collection, and the "virtuous cycle" of feeding this new data to improve the next generation of model is a priority for decision making tools for policy makers and programme managers.

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi. org/10.1186/s13567-024-01314-w.

Additional file 1. Search terms and list of articles. The additional file contains the search terms used in Web of Science to identify potentially relevant articles as well as the list of all the relevant articles found after the duplicate screening process.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge Sylvia Power for helping in reviewing the final version of the manuscript.

Authors' contributions

KC: conceived and designed the review, acquired, analysed and interpreted the data, wrote the first draft of the manuscript. HME, LLG: edited and revised the manuscript and contributed to the interpretation of the data. AWB: edited and revised the manuscript and contributed to the interpretation of the data, drafted the policy and research implications. BA, PK, VMP, KJM, AFS, MST: edited specific sections of the discussion and revised the manuscript. SC: conceived and designed the review, edited the manuscript and supervised the process. All Authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This publication has emanated from research conducted with the financial support of Science Foundation Ireland under Grant number 18/CRT/6049. For the purpose of Open Access, the author has applied a CC BY public copyright licence to any Author Accepted Manuscript version arising from this submission. In addition, HME is funded by an Irish Research Council Government of Ireland postgraduate scholarship. KJM and VMP is funded by the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine (DAFM) in Ireland through the research grant 2019-R-417.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets generated and/or analysed during the current study are available in the "A scoping review on bovine tuberculosis highlights the need for novel data streams and analytical approaches to curb zoonotic diseases" repository [133].

Declarations

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Laboratory of Wildlife Ecology and Behaviour, School of Biology and Environmental Science, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland. ²Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, One Health Scientific Support Unit, Dublin, Ireland. ³School of Mathematics and Statistics, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland. ⁴Department of Wildlife Ecology and Management, Faculty of Environment and Natural Resources, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany. ⁵The Frankfurt Zoological Society, Frankfurt, Germany. ⁶Department of National Park Monitoring and Animal Management, Bavarian Forest National Park, Grafenau, Germany.

Received: 9 May 2023 Accepted: 20 March 2024 Published online: 21 May 2024

References

- Destoumieux-Garzón D, Mavingui P, Boetsch G, Boissier J, Darriet F, Duboz P, Fritsch C, Giraudoux P, Le Roux F, Morand S, Paillard C, Pontier D, Sueur C, Voituron Y (2018) The One Health concept: 10 years old and a long road ahead. Front Vet Sci 5:14
- Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, Daszak P (2008) Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature 451:990–993
- Karesh WB, Dobson A, Lloyd-Smith JO, Lubroth J, Dixon MA, Bennett M, Aldrich S, Harrington T, Formenty P, Loh EH, Machalaba CC, Thomas MJ, Heymann DL (2012) Ecology of zoonoses: natural and unnatural histories. Lancet 380:1936–1945
- EFSA and ECDC (European Food Safety Authority and European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control) (2021) The European Union One Health 2019 zoonoses report. EFSA J 19:6406
- Beard R, Wentz E, Scotch M (2018) A systematic review of spatial decision support systems in public health informatics supporting the identification of high risk areas for zoonotic disease outbreaks. Int J Health Geogr 17:38

- Jones BA, Grace D, Kock R, Alonso S, Rushton J, Said MY, Mckeever D, Mutua F, Young J, Mcdermott J, Pfeiffer DU (2013) Zoonosis emergence linked to agricultural intensification and environmental change. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:8399–8404
- 7. Lowry H, Lill A, Wong BBM (2013) Behavioural responses of wildlife to urban environments. Biol Rev 88:537–549
- Craft ME (2015) Infectious disease transmission and contact networks in wildlife and livestock. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 370:20140107
- Johnson CK, Hitchens PL, Pandit PS, Rushmore J, Evans TS, Young CCW, Doyle MM (2020) Global shifts in mammalian population trends reveal key predictors of virus spillover risk. Proc Biol Sci 287:20192736
- WHO, FAO, OIE (2017) Roadmap for zoonotic tuberculosis. WHO, Geneva
- DAFM (2023) National bovine TB statistics. https://www.gov.ie/en/publi cation/5986c-national-bovine-tb-statistics-2020/. Accessed 28 Mar 2024
- 12. DAFM (2019) Spending review 2019. Animal health: TB Eradication. DAFM, Dublin
- 13. DEFRA (2018) Bovine TB strategy review. DEFRA, UK
- Corner LAL, O'Meara D, Costello E, Lesellier S, Gormley E (2012) The distribution of *Mycobacterium bovis* infection in naturally infected badgers. Vet J 194:166–172
- Vicente J, Höfle U, Garrido JM, Fernández-De-Mera IG, Juste R, Barral M, Gortazar C (2006) Wild boar and red deer display high prevalences of tuberculosis-like lesions in Spain. Vet Res 37:107–119
- Allen AR, Skuce RA, Byrne AW (2018) Bovine tuberculosis in Britain and Ireland—a perfect storm? The confluence of potential ecological and epidemiological impediments to controlling a chronic infectious disease. Front Vet Sci 5:109
- Twelve Manhattan principles formulated. https://www.onehealthc ommission.org/index.cfm/37526/75802/twelve_manhattan_princ iples_formulated. Accessed 26 Feb 2019
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner M (2011) From "one medicine" to "one health" and systemic approaches to health and wellbeing. Prev Vet Med 101:148–156
- Estrada-Peña A, Ostfeld RS, Peterson AT, Poulin R, De La Fuente J (2014) Effects of environmental change on zoonotic disease risk: an ecological primer. Trends Parasitol 30:205–214
- 20. Castillo-Neyra R, Zegarra E, Monroy Y, Bernedo R, Cornejo-Rosello I, Paz-Soldan V, Levy M (2017) Spatial association of sanine rabies outbreak and ecological urban corridors, Arequipa, Peru. Trop Med Infect Dis 2:38
- 21. Fisher CR, Streicker DG, Schnell MJ (2018) The spread and evolution of rabies virus: conquering new frontiers. Nat Rev Microbiol 16:241–255
- 22. Siettos CI, Russo L (2013) Mathematical modeling of infectious disease dynamics. Virulence 4:295–306
- 23. Adam D (2020) Special report: the simulations driving the world's response to COVID-19. Nature 580:316–318
- 24. Craft ME, Caillaud D (2011) Network models: an underutilized tool in wildlife epidemiology? Interdiscip Perspect Infect Dis 2011:676949
- Murphy KJ, Ciuti S, Kane A (2020) An introduction to agent-based models as an accessible surrogate to field-based research and teaching. Ecol Evol 10:12482–12498
- Vasylyeva TI, Friedman SR, Paraskevis D, Magiorkinis G (2016) Integrating molecular epidemiology and social network analysis to study infectious diseases: towards a socio-molecular era for public health. Infect Genet Evol 46:248–255
- 27. Schrödle B, Held L (2011) Spatio-temporal disease mapping using INLA. Environmetrics 22:725–734
- Talisuna AO, Okiro EA, Yahaya AA, Stephen M, Bonkoungou B, Musa EO, Minkoulou EM, Okeibunor J, Impouma B, Djingarey HM, Yao NKM, Oka S, Yoti Z, Fall IS (2020) Spatial and temporal distribution of infectious disease epidemics, disasters and other potential public health emergencies in the World Health Organisation Africa region, 2016–2018. Global Health 16:9
- Charron MV, Kluiters G, Langlais M, Seegers H, Baylis M, Ezanno P (2013) Seasonal and spatial heterogeneities in host and vector abundances impact the spatiotemporal spread of bluetongue. Vet Res 44:44
- Brock PM, Fornace KM, Grigg MJ, Anstey NM, William T, Cox J, Drakeley CJ, Ferguson HM, Kao RR (2019) Predictive analysis across spatial scales links zoonotic malaria to deforestation. Proc Biol Sci 286:20182351

- Cohen JM, Civitello DJ, Brace AJ, Feichtinger EM, Ortega CN, Richardson JC, Sauer EL, Liu X, Rohr JR (2016) Spatial scale modulates the strength of ecological processes driving disease distributions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113:E3359–E3364
- Diallo AB, Coiffard B, Leone M, Mezouar S, Mege J-L (2020) For whom the clock ticks: clinical chronobiology for infectious diseases. Front Immunol 11:1457
- Kronfeld-Schor N, Bloch G, Schwartz WJ (2013) Animal clocks: when science meets nature. Proc Biol Sci 280:20131354
- Lal A, Hales S, French N, Baker MG (2012) Seasonality in human zoonotic enteric diseases: a systematic review. PLoS One 7:e31883
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, Moher D, Peters MDJ, Horsley T, Weeks L, Hempel S, Akl EA, Chang C, McGowan J, Stewart L, Hartling L, Aldcroft A, Wilson MG, Garritty C, Lewin S, Godfrey CM, Macdonald MT, Langlois EV, Soares-Weiser K, Moriarty J, Clifford T, Tunçalp Ö, Straus SE (2018) PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 169:467–473
- Munn Z, Stern C, Aromataris E, Lockwood C, Jordan Z (2018) What kind of systematic review should I conduct? A proposed typology and guidance for systematic reviewers in the medical and health sciences. Med Res Methodol 18:5
- Determine the key concepts of your topic. https://libguides.city.ac.uk/ SHS-Litsearchguide/frameworks. Accessed 26 Feb 2019
- R Core Team (2020) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria
- Katale BZ, Fyumagwa RD, Mjingo EE, Sayalel K, Batamuzi EK, Matee MI, Keyyu JD, Muumba J, Mdaki M, Mbugi E, Rweyemamu MM, Mpanduji DG (2017) Screaning for bovine tuberculosis in african buffalo (*Syncerus caffer*) in Ngorongoro conservation area, Northern Tanzania: implications for public health. J Wildl Dis 53:711–717
- Meunier NV, Sebulime P, White RG, Kock R (2017) Wildlife-livestock interactions and risk areas for cross-species spread of bovine tuberculosis. Onderstepoort J Vet Res 84:e1–e10
- Wielgus E, Caron A, Bennitt E, De Garine-Wichatitsky M, Cain B, Fritz H, Miguel E, Cornélis D, Chamaillé-Jammes S (2021) Inter-group social behavior, contact patterns and risk for pathogen transmission in cape buffalo populations. J Wild Manag 85:1574–1590
- 42. Gormley AM, Anderson DP, Nugent G (2018) Cost-based optimization of the stopping threshold for local disease surveillance during progressive eradication of tuberculosis from New Zealand wildlife. Transbound Emerg Dis 65:186–196
- 43. Smith GC, Budgey R (2021) Simulating the next steps in badger control for bovine tuberculosis in England. PLoS One 16:e0248426
- Birch CPD, Goddard A, Tearne O (2018) A new bovine tuberculosis model for England and Wales (BoTMEW) to simulate epidemiology, surveillance and control. Vet Res 14:273
- 45. Macdonald DW, Riordan P, Mathews F (2006) Biological hurdles to the control of TB in cattle: a test of two hypotheses concerning wildlife to explain the failure of control. Biol Conserv 131:268–286
- 46. Ellwanger JH, Fearnside PM, Ziliotto M, Valverde-Villegas JM, Veiga ABGD, Vieira GF, Bach E, Cardoso JC, Müller NFD, Lopes G, Caesar L, Kulmann-Leal B, Kaminski VL, Silveira ES, Spilki FR, Weber MN, Almeida SEM, Hora VPD, Chies JAB (2022) Synthesizing the connections between environmental disturbances and zoonotic spillover. An Acad Bras Ciênc 94(suppl 3):e20211530
- Gibb R, Redding DW, Chin KQ, Donnelly CA, Blackburn TM, Newbold T, Jones KE (2020) Zoonotic host diversity increases in human-dominated ecosystems. Nature 584:398–402
- 48. Keesing F, Ostfeld RS (2021) Impacts of biodiversity and biodiversity loss on zoonotic diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 118:e2023540118
- Bastida A, Tellez MH, Bustamante Montes LP, Jaramillo Paniagua JN, Jaimes Beni Tes MA, Mendoza Barrera GN, Rami Rez-Dura NN (2017) Spatial analysis of bovine tuberculosis in the State of Mexico, Mexico. Vet Ital 53:39–46
- Gaughran A, Mullen E, Macwhite T, Maher P, Kelly DJ, Kelly R, Good M, Marples NM (2021) Badger territoriality maintained despite disturbance of major road construction. PLoS One 16:e0242586
- O'Hagan MJH, McCormick CM, Collins SF, McBride KR, Menzies FD (2021) Are major roads effective barriers for badger (*Meles meles*) movements? Res Vet Sci 138:49–52

- Murphy KJ, Morera-Pujol V, Ryan E, Byrne AW, Breslin P, Ciuti S (2022) Habitat availability alters the relative risk of a bovine tuberculosis breakdown in the aftermath of a commercial forest clearfell disturbance. J Appl Ecol 59:2333–2345
- 53. Porphyre T, Stevenson MA, McKenzie J (2008) Risk factors for bovine tuberculosis in New Zealand cattle farms and their relationship with possum control strategies. Prev Vet Med 86:93–106
- Brunton LA, Alexander N, Wint W, Ashton A, Broughan JM (2017) Using geographically weighted regression to explore the spatially heterogeneous spread of bovine tuberculosis in England and Wales. Stoch Environ Res Risk Assess 31:339–352
- 55. Allen AR, Ford T, Skuce RA (2021) Does Mycobacterium tuberculosis var. bovis survival in the environment confound bovine tuberculosis control and eradication? A literature review. Vet Med Int 2021:8812898
- Brooks-Pollock E, Roberts GO, Keeling MJ (2014) A dynamic model of bovine tuberculosis spread and control in Great Britain. Nature 511:228–231
- 57. Redpath SHA, Marks NJ, Menzies FD, O'Hagan MJH, Wilson RP, Smith S, Magowan EA, Mcclune DW, Collins SF, Mccormick CM, Scantlebury DM (2023) Impact of test, vaccinate and remove protocol on home ranges and nightly movements of badgers in a medium density population. Sci Rep 13:2592
- Gaughran A, Macwhite T, Mullen E, Maher P, Kelly DJ, Good M, Marples NM (2019) Dispersal patterns in a medium-density Irish badger population: implications for understanding the dynamics of tuberculosis transmission. Ecol Evol 9:13142–13152
- Palisson A, Courcoul A, Durand B (2016) Role of cattle movements in bovine tuberculosis spread in France between 2005 and 2014. PLoS One 11:e0152578
- 60. Gortazar C, Diez-Delgado I, Barasona JA, Vicente J, De La Fuente J, Boadella M (2015) The wild side of disease control at the wildlife-livestockhuman interface: a review. Front Vet Sci 1:27
- Delahay CRJ, Smith GC, Barlow AM, Walker N, Harris A, Clifton-Hadley RS, Cheeseman CL (2007) Bovine tuberculosis infection in wild mammals in the South-West region of England: a survey of prevalence and a semi-quantitative assessment of the relative risks to cattle. Vet J 173:287–301
- Crispell J, Cassidy S, Kenny K, Mcgrath G, Warde S, Cameron H, Rossi G, Macwhite T, White PCL, Lycett S, Kao RR, Moriarty J, Gordon SV (2020) *Mycobacterium bovis* genomics reveals transmission of infection between cattle and deer in Ireland. Microb Genom 6:mgen000388
- 63. Réveillaud É, Desvaux S, Boschiroli M-L, Hars J, Faure É, Fediaevsky A, Cavalerie L, Chevalier F, Jabert P, Poliak S, Tourette I, Hendrikx P, Richomme C (2018) Infection of wildlife by *Mycobacterium bovis* in France assessment through a National Surveillance System, Sylvatub. Front Vet Sci 5:262
- Castillo JL, Fernández-Llario P, Mateos C, Carranza J, Benítez-Medina JM, García-Jiménez W, Bermejo-Martín F, Hermoso de Mendoza J (2011) Management practices and their association with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex prevalence in red deer populations in Southwestern Spain. Prev Vet Med 98:58–63
- Morera-Pujol V, Mostert PS, Murphy KJ, Burkitt T, Coad B, Mcmahon BJ, Nieuwenhuis M, Morelle K, Ward AI, Ciuti S (2023) Bayesian species distribution models integrate presence-only and presence-absence data to predict deer distribution and relative abundance. Ecography 2023:e06451
- 66. Gaidet N, Cappelle J, Takekawa JY, Prosser DJ, Iverson SA, Douglas DC, Perry WM, Mundkur T, Newman SH (2010) Potential spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 by wildfowl: dispersal ranges and rates determined from large-scale satellite telemetry. J App Ecol 47:1147–1157
- Raizman EA, Rasmussen HB, King LE, Ihwagi FW, Douglas-Hamilton I (2013) Feasibility study on the spatial and temporal movement of Samburu's cattle and wildlife in Kenya using GPS radio-tracking, remote sensing and GIS. Prev Vet Med 111:76–80
- 68. Wearn O, Glover-Kapfer P (2017) Camera-trapping for conservation: a guide to best-practices. WWF, Woking
- Vazquez C, Rowcliffe JM, Spoelstra K, Jansen PA (2019) Comparing diel activity patterns of wildlife across latitudes and seasons: time transformations using day length. Methods Ecol Evol 10:2057–2066

- Wevers J, Beenaerts N, Casaer J, Zimmermann F, Artois T, Fattebert J (2021) Modelling species distribution from camera trap by-catch using a scale-optimized occupancy approach. Remote Sens Ecol Conserv 7:534–549
- Henrich M, Hartig F, Dormann CF, Kühl HS, Peters W, Franke F, Peterka T, Šustr P, Heurich M (2022) Deer behavior affects density estimates with camera traps, but is outweighed by spatial variability. Front Ecol Evol 10:881502
- Kukielka VE, Barasona JA, Cowie CE, Drewe JA, Gortazar C, Cotarelo I, Vicente J (2013) Spatial and temporal interactions between livestock and wildlife in South Central Spain assessed by camera traps. Prev Vet Med 112:213–221
- Gaudiano L, Pucciarelli L, Mori E (2021) Livestock grazing affects movements and activity pattern of Italian roe deer in Southern Italy. Eur J Wildl Res 67:1–8
- 74. Triguero-Ocaña R, Vicente J, Palencia P, Laguna E, Acevedo P (2020) Quantifying wildlife-livestock interactions and their spatio-temporal patterns: is regular grid camera trapping a suitable approach? Ecol Indic 117:106565
- Hinojo A, Christe P, Moreno I, Hofmeister RJ, Dandliker G, Zimmermann F (2022) Estimating roe deer density using motion-sensitive cameras in Switzerland. J Wildl Manag 86:e22307
- 76. Schilling AK, Mazzamuto MV, Romeo C (2022) A review of non-invasive sampling in wildlife disease and health research: what's new? Animals 12:1719
- Childress J, Faust CL, Deiner K (2023) Introduction to special issue: advancing disease ecology through eDNA monitoring of infectious agents. Environ DNA 6:e502
- Sieber N, Hartikainen H, Vorburger C (2020) Validation of an eDNAbased method for the detection of wildlife pathogens in water. Dis Aquat Organ 141:171–184
- Sengupta ME, Lynggaard C, Mukaratirwa S, Vennervald BJ, Stensgaard AS (2022) Environmental DNA in human and veterinary parasitology current applications and future prospects for monitoring and control. Food Waterborne Parasitol 29:e00183
- Cheng YC, Hannaoui S, John TR, Dudas S, Czub S, Gilch S (2016) Early and non-invasive detection of chronic wasting disease prions in elk feces by real-time quaking induced conversion. PLoS One 11:e0166187
- King HC, Murphy A, James P, Travis E, Porter D, Sawyer J, Cork J, Delahay RJ, Gaze W, Courtenay O, Wellington EM (2015) Performance of a noninvasive test for detecting *Mycobacterium bovis* shedding in European Badger (*Meles meles*) populations. J Clin Microbiol 53:2316–2323
- Pronyk PM, de Alwis R, Rockett R, Basile K, Boucher YF, Pang V, Sessions O, Getchell M, Golubchik T, Lam C, Lin R, Mak T-M, Marais B, Ong RT-H, Clapham HE, Wang L, Cahyorini Y, Polotan FGM, Rukminiati Y, Sim E, Suster C, Smith GJD, Sintchenko V (2023) Advancing pathogen genomics in resource-limited settings. Cell Genom 3:100443
- Reis AC, Cunha MV (2021) Genome-wide estimation of recombination, mutation and positive selection enlightens diversification drivers of *Mycobacterium bovis*. Sci Rep 11:18789
- Wilmers CC, Nickel B, Bryce CM, Smith JA, Wheat RE, Yovovich V (2015) The golden age of bio-logging: how animal-borne sensors are advancing the frontiers of ecology. Ecology 96:1741–1753
- Williams HJ, Taylor LA, Benhamou S, Bijleveld AI, Clay TA, Grissac S, Demšar U, English HM, Franconi N, Gómez-Laich A, Griffiths RC, Kay WP, Morales JM, Potts JR, Rogerson KF, Rutz C, Spelt A, Trevail AM, Wilson RP, Börger L (2020) Optimizing the use of biologgers for movement ecology research. J Anim Ecol 89:186–206
- Drewe JA, O'Connor HM, Weber N, McDonald RA, Delahay RJ (2013) Patterns of direct and indirect contact between cattle and badgers naturally infected with tuberculosis. Epidemiol Infect 141:1467–1475
- Woodroffe R, Donnelly CA, Ham C, Jackson SYB, Moyes K, Chapman K, Stratton NG, Cartwright SJ (2016) Badgers prefer cattle pasture but avoid cattle: implications for bovine tuberculosis control. Ecol Lett 19:1201–1208
- Dougherty ER, Seidel DP, Carlson CJ, Spiegel O, Getz WM (2018) Going through the motions: incorporating movement analyses into disease research. Ecol Lett 21:588–604
- Wilson RP, Grundy E, Massy R, Soltis J, Tysse B, Holton M, Cai Y, Parrott A, Downey LA, Qasem L, Butt T (2014) Wild state secrets: ultra-sensitive

measurement of micro-movement can reveal internal processes in animals. Front Ecol Environ 12:582–587

- Vázquez Diosdado JA, Barker ZE, Hodges HR, Amory JR, Croft DP, Bell NJ, Codling EA (2015) Classification of behaviour in housed dairy cows using an accelerometer-based activity monitoring system. Anim Biotelemetry 3:15
- Barasona JA, Latham MC, Acevedo P, Armenteros JA, Latham ADM, Gortazar C, Carro F, Soriguer RC, Vicente J (2014) Spatiotemporal interactions between wild boar and cattle: implications for cross-species disease transmission. Vet Res 45:122
- Woodroffe R, Donnelly CA, Chapman K, Ham C, Moyes K, Stratton NG, Cartwright SJ (2021) Successive use of shared space by badgers and cattle: implications for *Mycobacterium bovis* transmission. J Zool 314:132–142
- 93. Bartolín-Arnau LM, Todoli-Ferrandis D, Sempere-Payá V, Silvestre-Blanes J, Santonja-Climent S (2023) LoRaWAN networks for smart applications in rural settings. IETE Tech Rev 40:440–452
- O'Kennedy M, Niesler T, Wolhuter R, Mitton N (2020) Practical evaluation of carrier sensing for a LoRa wildlife monitoring network. In: 2020 IFIP Networking Conference (Networking), Paris, France, June 2020, pp. 614–618
- 95. Shaheen MNF (2022) The concept of one health applied to the problem of zoonotic diseases. Rev Med Virol 32:e2326
- 96. Soulsbury CD, White PCL (2015) Human-wildlife interactions in urban areas: a review of conflicts, benefits and opportunities. Wildl Res 42:541
- Griffin LL, Haigh A, Amin B, Faull J, Norman A, Ciuti S (2022) Artificial selection in human-wildlife feeding interactions. J Anim Ecol 91:1892–1905
- Carrete M, Tella JL (2017) Behavioral correlations associated with fear of humans differ between rural and urban burrowing owls. Front Ecol Evol 5:54
- Spiegel O, Leu ST, Bull CM, Sih A (2017) What's your move? Movement as a link between personality and spatial dynamics in animal populations. Ecol Lett 20:3–18
- Gartland LA, Firth JA, Laskowski KL, Jeanson R, Ioannou CC (2022) Sociability as a personality trait in animals: methods, causes and consequences. Biol Rev 97:802–816
- 101. Oster M, Scheel M, Muráni E, Ponsuksili S, Zebunke M, Puppe B, Wimmers K (2015) The fight-or-flight response is associated with PBMC expression profiles related to immune defence and recovery in swine. PLoS One 10:e0120153
- Lloyd-Smith JO, Schreiber SJ, Kopp PE, Getz WM (2005) Superspreading and the effect of individual variation on disease emergence. Nature 438:355–359
- Barber I, Dingemanse NJ (2010) Parasitism and the evolutionary ecology of animal personality. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 365:4077–4088
- 104. Santicchia F, Romeo C, Ferrari N, Matthysen E, Vanlauwe L, Wauters LA, Martinoli A (2019) The price of being bold? Relationship between personality and endoparasitic infection in a tree squirrel. Mamm Biol 97:1–8
- 105. Poulin R (2013) Parasite manipulation of host personality and behavioural syndromes. J Exp Biol 216:18–26
- Ward AI, Judge J, Delahay RJ (2010) Farm husbandry and badger behaviour: Opportunities to manage badger to cattle transmission of *Mycobacterium bovis*? Prev Vet Med 93:2–10
- 107. FAO, OIE, UN, WHO (2021) OHHLEP annual report
- 108. OHHLEP (2022) OHHLEP-One-Health theory of chance
- 109. Triguero-Ocaña R, Martínez-López B, Vicente J, Barasona JA, Martínez-Guijosa J, Acevedo P (2020) Dynamic network of interactions in the wildlife-livestock interface in mediterranean Spain: an epidemiological point of view. Pathogens 9:120
- 110. Wilber MQ, Pepin KM, Campa H, Hygnstrom SE, Lavelle MJ, Xifara T, Vercauteren KC, Webb CT (2019) Modelling multi-species and multi-mode contact networks: implications for persistence of bovine tuberculosis at the wildlife–livestock interface. J App Ecol 56:1471–1481
- 111. Fielding HR, Silk MJ, McKinley TJ, Delahay RJ, Wilson-Aggarwal JK, Gauvin L, Ozella L, Cattuto C, McDonald RA (2021) Spatial and temporal variation in proximity networks of commercial dairy cattle in Great Britain. Prev Vet Med 194:105443

- 112. Tratalos JA, Madden JM, Mcgrath G, Graham DA, Collins ÁB, More SJ (2020) Spatial and network characteristics of Irish cattle movements. Prev Vet Med 183:105095
- Silk MJ, Croft DP, Delahay RJ, Hodgson DJ, Boots M, Weber N, Mcdonald RA (2017) Using social network measures in wildlife disease ecology, epidemiology, and management. Biosci 67:245–257
- 114. Farine DR, Whitehead H (2015) Constructing, conducting and interpreting animal social network analysis. J Anim Ecol 84:1144–1163
- 115. Kaur P, Ciuti S, Ossi F, Cagnacci F, Morellet N, Loison A, Atmeh K, McLoughlin P, Reinking AK, Beck JL, Ortega AC, Kauffman M, Boyce MC, Salter-Townshend M (2023) Assessing bias and robustness of social network metrics using GPS based radio-telemetry data. bioRxiv. 2023.2003.2030.534779
- 116. Sosa S, Sueur C, Puga-Gonzalez I (2021) Network measures in animal social network analysis: their strengths, limits, interpretations and uses. Methods Ecol Evol 12:10–21
- 117. Allen T, Murray KA, Zambrana-Torrelio C, Morse SS, Rondinini C, Di Marco M, Breit N, Olival KJ, Daszak P (2017) Global hotspots and correlates of emerging zoonotic diseases. Nat Commun 8:1124
- Newton-Cross G, White PCL, Harris S (2007) Modelling the distribution of badgers *Meles meles*: comparing predictions from field-based and remotely derived habitat data. Mamm Rev 37:54–70
- Elith J, Leathwick JR (2009) Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 40:677–697
- Lindgren F, Rue H (2015) Bayesian spatial modelling with R-INLA. J Stat Softw 63:1–25
- 121. Elith J (2019) Machine learning, random forests, and boosted regression trees. In: Brennan L, Tri A, Marcot B (eds) Quantitative analyses in wildlife science. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, pp 281–297
- 122. Isaac NJB, Jarzyna MA, Keil P, Dambly LI, Boersch-Supan PH, Browning E, Freeman SN, Golding N, Guillera-Arroita G, Henrys PA, Jarvis S, Lahoz-Monfort J, Pagel J, Pescott OL, Schmucki R, Simmonds EG, O'Hara RB (2020) Data integration for large-scale models of species distributions. Trends Ecol Evol 35:56–67
- 123. Bakka H, Rue H, Fuglstad GA, Riebler A, Bolin D, Illian J, Krainski E, Simpson D, Lindgren F (2018) Spatial modeling with R-INLA: a review. WIREs Comp Stats 10:e1443
- 124. Tracey JA, Bevins SN, Vandewoude S, Crooks KR (2014) An agent-based movement model to assess the impact of landscape fragmentation on disease transmission. Ecosphere 5:art119
- 125. Gaughran A, Kelly DJ, Macwhite T, Mullen E, Maher P, Good M, Marples NM (2018) Super-ranging: a new ranging strategy in European badgers. PLoS One 13:e0191818
- 126. O'Hagan MJH, Gordon AW, Mccormick CM, Collins SF, Trimble NA, Mcgeown CF, Mchugh GE, Mcbride KR, Menzies FD (2021) Effect of selective removal of badgers (*Meles meles*) on ranging behaviour during a 'Test and Vaccinate or Remove' intervention in Northern Ireland. Epidemiol Infect 149:1–31
- 127. Byrne AW, Acevedo P, Green S, O'Keeffe J (2014) Estimating badger social-group abundance in the Republic of Ireland using cross-validated species distribution modelling. Ecol Indic 43:94–102
- Abdou M, Frankena K, O'Keeffe J, Byrne AW (2016) Effect of culling and vaccination on bovine tuberculosis infection in a European badger (*Meles meles*) population by spatial simulation modelling. Prev Vet Med 125:19–30
- 129. Barroso P, Breslin P, McGrath G, Jamie MM, Tratalos JA, More SJ, Ryan E, Byrne AW, Barrett D (2022) Is there an association between road building and bovine tuberculosis herd risk? A three time-point study in Ireland, 2011–2019. Prev Vet Med 198:105542
- 130. Jesko Z, Reamonn MF, Kevin L, Eva MM, Phillip OB, Ian P, Gavin S, Stuart G (2016) The Irish Land-Parcels Identification System (LPIS)—experiences in ongoing and recent environmental research and land cover mapping. Biol Environ 116B:53–62
- 131. Martin SW, O'Keeffe J, Byrne AW, Rosen LE, White PW, McGrath G (2020) Is moving from targeted culling to BCG-vaccination of badgers (*Meles meles*) associated with an unacceptable increased incidence of cattle herd tuberculosis in the Republic of Ireland? A practical non-inferiority wildlife intervention study in the Republic of Ireland (2011–2017). Prev Vet Med 179:105004

- 133. Bovine tuberculosis scoping review coded variables dataset. https:// doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.10695407
- 134. Phylogenetic icons database. Accessed 23 Oct 2023. https://www.phylo pic.org/
- 135. Creative commons attribution licenses. Accessed 23 Oct 2023. https:// creativecommons.org/share-your-work/cclicenses/

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.